FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/17/2022 2:03 PM
No. 100934-8

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/17/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 54915-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENMORE MHP LLC, JIM PERKINS, AND KENMORE VILLAGE MHP, LLC

Respondents and Petitioners Below v.

CITY OF KENMORE,

Appellants and Respondents Below and Defendants Below, and

ENVIRONMENTAL LAND USE HEARINGS OFFICE and the GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD FOR THE CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGION,

Respondents Below,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Introduction

Faced with the City of Kenmore's (City) violation of the Growth Management Act (GMA), Petitioners timely filed a petition for review in the Growth Management Hearings Board (Board)—a filing done electronically with the push of a computer key. But the City had to be served personally. The petition for review was sent for service that day, but due to traffic issues, the City could not be served until the next business day.

The Board has a unique rule at WAC 242-03-230(2)(a) that a petition must be served on or before the day the petition is filed. Because the petition was filed instantaneously, it could not be "unfiled" and refiled on the next business day when service could occur. Although the City suffered no prejudice from receiving the petition a day after filing, the Board treated its rule that petitions must be served when filed as jurisdictional and dismissed the petition. Under the Board's interpretation, once the

petition was electronically filed and service could not be completed that day, Petitioners' case was doomed—nothing could be done to cure.

The Board's interpretation of its rule has nothing to do with the purpose of service—providing timely notice to the opposing party. Instead, the rule has become an arbitrary procedural trap which dissenting Board member Cheryl Pflug called "a technical booby trap to deprive a party of redress." App. D:15.

The trial court rightly found the Board's dismissal in the absence of prejudice to be contrary to due process. However, in a published opinion, Division II concludes it must defer to the Board's new interpretation of substantial compliance with the service timing rule even though the interpretation is completely contrary to the Board's historical interpretation, namely, that dismissal is appropriate only if prejudice is shown.

This case is worthy of this Court's review to restore public confidence in the State's processes for resolving legal claims. Quasi-judicial processes are critical to living in a complex society, but public confidence is shaken when a significant dispute-resolving agency throws out one's case because of a hyper-technicality that prejudiced no one. In light of the uncertainties of modern life—traffic, weather, pandemics—service will not always be possible as the Board demands. Service one business day after filing and still within the statute of limitations should not be fatal to having one's case heard.

Identity of Petitioners

Petitioners to this Court are Kenmore MHP LLC, Jim
Perkins and Kenmore Village MHP, LLC—the
Respondents in the Court of Appeals.¹

¹ Petitioners are referred to as "Petitioners" herein because the issue revolves around their status as those who filed a petition with the Board.

Citation to the Court of Appeals' Decision

The Decision Petitioners seeks reviewed was filed on February 8, 2022, App. A, and an order denying Petitioners' motion for reconsideration was filed on April 18, 2022. App. B.

Issue Presented for Review

Whether an adjudicatory agency may dismiss a case before it and deprive the petitioner of a hearing on the merits because of a non-jurisdictional procedural rule when there was no prejudice to anyone and when the agency's interpretation is inconsistent with its historical interpretation, rules of statutory construction and legislative intent.

Statement of the Case

A. Petitioners filed a petition for review seeking a quasi-judicial hearing before the Board.

Petitioners are three separate owners of three mobile home parks within downtown City of Kenmore. Years of

municipal planning resulted in the designation of
Petitioners' properties for redevelopment to facilitate the
City's community-generated plans for a vibrant downtown
community. Higher levels of residential development on
Petitioners' properties is essential for the City to meet its
population goals as required by the GMA, RCW
36.70A.110-115. Higher density downtown was essential
to the promise made to King County and neighboring
jurisdictions which would otherwise experience pressure
from growth if the City did not take its fair share.

Despite these obligations, the City ignored its historical planning for the area and selected the Petitioners' mobile home parks for special treatment whereby they would be prohibited from providing more housing even though that was promised to King County and nearby cities.

B. A majority of the Board dismissed the petition because it was not served by the day it was filed.

The following referenced dates are important to this case. Petitioners challenged the City's decision under the GMA by timely filing a Petition for Review with the Board on Friday, June 14, 2019—three days before the 60-day statute of limitations provided in RCW 36.70A.290(2) would expire on the following Monday. App. D:2. This filing was accomplished electronically (literally with the push of a computer key) at 2:37 p.m. on that Friday. App D:9.

Although Petitioners gave their Petition to a process server on that date to personally serve the City as required by WAC 242-03-230(2)(a) (service by email is not allowed), traffic conditions thwarted the process server's ability to reach City Hall to serve the City before it closed. App A:2. Moreover, City Hall is roughly only 15 miles away from Petitioners' counsel's office so the

inability to serve the same day was completely unexpected. Nevertheless, service of the Petition was accomplished on Monday, June 17, 2019—one business day later—which was within the statutory deadline for filing a Petition for Review. App D:2.

Thereafter, City filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that the *service* of the Petition was technically ineffective because it occurred one business day after the electronic *filing* of the petition. The City asserted no prejudice in being served one business day after filing.²

Nonetheless, a two-member majority of the Board granted the City's motion—concluding that this one-day delay in service resulted in the loss of the Board's jurisdiction requiring dismissal. CP 22. The lack of

² See App D:16 ("the City tacitly acknowledges that it suffered no prejudice") (Pflug, C, dissenting).

prejudice to the City and extreme prejudice to Petitioners was irrelevant. App D:8 (prejudice is merely *dicta*).

In a seven-page opinion, Board Member Pflug—the required attorney member of the Board—dissented, concluding that the Board's service on or before filing rule "is not a technical booby trap to deprive a party of redress." App D:15 (footnotes and citations omitted). "Petitioners complied with 'every reasonable objective' of the Board's procedural rules." App D:16.

The conclusion that

service on or before the date of filing a challenge is a *jurisdictional* requirement is at odds with the statutory language of the GMA, inconsistent with the purpose and language of the Board's rules, and conflicts with the Supreme Court's direction that rules should place substance over form to the end that cases be resolved on the merits

App D:15 (emphasis by Boardmember Pflug).

Under the Board's decision, once the Petition was electronically filed and Petitioners' counsel learned that a

paper copy could not be delivered to the City that day, there was nothing that could be done to save the Petition.

C. The Superior Court reversed the Board's decision because denying a party's right to be heard for a failure that caused no prejudice is contrary to due process.

After their Petition before the Board was dismissed,
Petitioners sought judicial review. Thurston County
Superior Court Judge Chris Lanese reversed, concluding:

[T]the Court finds the decision below that Petitioners failed to satisfy that [substantial compliance] standard to be arbitrary and capricious. Any suggestion in the decision below that prejudice is not "central" or "germane" to a decision whether to dismiss a petition for a purported lack of substantial compliance with service requirements is incorrect. Rather, to comport with bedrock constitutional due process requirements, prejudice must be the primary consideration for any such decision.

App C:1 (emphasis added).

D. The Court of Appeals reverses, concluding that it must defer to the Board's interpretation of its rules even if that interpretation deprives a party of its right to be heard.

The Court of Appeals reverses and upholds the Board's decision to dismiss Petitioners' case for a violation of a procedural rule that prejudiced no one. App A. The Court of Appeals takes this significant position on the basis that the Court <u>must</u> defer to the Board's interpretation of substantial compliance in WAC 242-30-230(4). App A:6. Petitioners' motion for reconsideration was denied. App B.

Argument Why Review Should be Accepted

I.

This Court should review the published Division II decision that upholds dismissal due a procedural technicality in service despite no showing of prejudice.

Division II's published Decision represents a significant change in bedrock principles of justice. Incredibly, the Decision held that, even though the City was served one business day after filing—which date was even within the

statute of limitations—dismissal of a petition was mandatory despite the obvious lack of any prejudice.³ These are issues involving significant questions of law and issues of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b).

The issues raised in this petition go to the heart of public confidence in quasi-judicial processes which only this Court can restore.

A. A state agency charged with adjudicating disputes should not be entitled to deference when it dismisses a case because of a technicality that prejudiced no one.

Division II makes a significant precedent-setting error in a case which it recognizes as being one of "first impression" (App A:8) in granting deference to a state agency's interpretation of "substantial compliance" in the context of a service timing requirement. Ultimately, it is the court's job to determine the meaning and purpose of

³See App D:15 (Boardmember Pflug, dissenting) (rejecting a "sporting theory of justice").

the law,⁴ even to agency interpretations of its own regulations. *See In re Peterson*, 99 Wn.App. 673, 677 (2000).

As further explained below, applying deference in this context is unjust for several reasons. Deference is not appropriate because the regulation at issue is the key to whether one's dispute may be resolved, unlike merely a regulation of business operations. Deference is contrary to the legislature's call for liberal construction. Deference is also not appropriate because the agency has historically ruled that prejudice is essential to cause dismissal. Moreover, deference is not appropriate because the rule does not involve technical expertise beyond the competence of courts. Finally, the Court of Appeals should not have deferred because the changing

⁴ City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 136 Wn.2d 38, 46 (1998).

of interpretation was without prior notice and was contrary to everyday rules of statutory construction.

1. Deference should not apply to enable a procedural service rule to prohibit a party's case from being heard because of the impact on First Amendment concerns and the right to petition government for redress.

Appeal-processing regulations that close the door to an adjudication raises First Amendment concerns and implicates the right to petition government for redress. In response to Petitioners' argument "substantial compliance" should be interpreted in light of the common law, Division II concludes "substantial compliance" has been defined by different administrative agencies in multiple ways. App A:10. For example, Division II refers to substantial compliance with a regulatory standard in nursing homes and schools, maritime vessel construction and crane and derrick safety. App A:10-11.

While substantial compliance may mean differing things when referring to safety regulations or other

business activities, these regulations have nothing to do with the right to petition an adjudicatory body as in the present case. Division II ignores the obvious implication of the right to petition government for redress and First Amendment concerns—completely absent in related administrative regulations unrelated to resolving claims. See generally, Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reps, LLC, 179 Wn.App. 41, 75 (2014); Nat'l Ass'n for Advancement of Colored People v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 429 (1963) (adjudication has First Amendment implications). Mere compliance with a regulation of an activity like operating cranes or building marine vessels typically does not raise any First Amendment concerns.

Petitioners sought resolution of a controversy that requires quasi-judicial action. In the resolution of controversies, the overriding policy in Washington state is "that controversies be determined on the merits." *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 576, 581 (1979)

(citation omitted). By interpreting a rule in a way that elevates form over substance, Division II authorizes the deprivation of people's opportunity to have their cases decided for no substantial or legitimate reason.

The public cares about government agencies treating fairly people who come to have disputes resolved. A bedrock principle is that justice is not done if a party's defense or claim cannot be heard, as in the case of a default. See Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson, 95 Wn.App. 231, 238 (1999). A decision-maker

should exercise its discretion liberally and equitably, so that substantial rights are preserved and justice between the parties is "fairly and judiciously done."

Id. (footnotes omitted).

At this basic level, adjudicatory bodies should operate consistent with modern rules of procedure that recognize the right of a party to have its claim heard on the merits, "as opposed to disposition on technical niceties." *Sheldon*

v. Fettig, 129 Wn.2d 601, 609 (1996) (citations omitted).Or, as dissenting Boardmember Pflug described, based on a "technical booby trap." App D:15.

2. Deference to the Board's interpretation conflicts with the legislature's directive for liberal construction.

The legislature has made clear that <u>all</u> statutory interpretations require liberal construction. *Sheldon*, 129 Wn.2d at 609 (citing RCW 1.12.010 which directs that "[t]he provisions of this code shall be liberally construed, and shall not be limited by any rule of strict construction"); see also Stikes Woods Neighborhood Ass'n v. City of Lacey, 124 Wn.2d 459, 465 (1994) (liberal construction of a statute of limitations to extend deadline falling on a weekend "to provide the greatest degree of fairness").

By not applying basic fairness to a proceeding before the Board, Division II has essentially concluded that the Board is free to disregard public policy favoring the resolution of disputes on the merits and instead rely on technicalities which did nothing to protect anyone from prejudice or further resolution of disputes.

The use of judicial, and now quasi-judicial, bodies are how civil societies resolve disputes. As a matter of public policy, when it comes to the requirements for having one's case heard, there should not be "slavish adherence" to technical requirements. *Adkins v. Hollister*, 47 Wn.App. 381 (1987). Liberal construction and basic concepts of justice require not treating a non-jurisdictional requirement as fatal when no one was prejudiced.

3. Division II defers to an agency's interpretation of a rule which is completely at odds with its historical interpretation.

Traditionally, an agency's interpretation of its regulations is entitled to deference only if its interpretation has been consistent. *Sleasman v. City of Lacey*, 159 Wn.2d 639, 646 (2007).⁵ But the Court should determine

17

⁵ Division II's Decision conflicts with *Sleasman*, triggering review to resolve such conflicts under RAP 13.4(b).

whether this principle is still true, given Division II's affirmation of an interpretation which is at odds with all prior Board decisions. The Board's new position on "substantial compliance" is not consistent with its quite clear message to the public and practitioners that service immediately after filing does not result in dismissal absent a showing a prejudice.

a. The Board's decision in *Your Snoqualmie Valley* did not clearly jettison prejudice as necessary to dismiss a case on service timing issues.

Division II concludes that the Board in *Your*Snoqualmie Valley v. City of Snoqualmie, No. 11-3-0012

(Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd. March 8, 2012),

established a rigid four-part test for finding substantial

compliance with the Board's service rule. App A:4.

Furthermore, the Board found Petitioners' excuse for filing

a day late—traffic delay rendering it impossible—to be not

good enough. App A:22. Nevertheless, the Board in *Your*

Snoqualmie Valley did not indicate it was establishing any such rigid test.

Rather, the Board in *Your Snoqualmie Valley* considered two different ways of analyzing service timing issues without identifying which one it was adopting. After referring to the four-part test, in the very next paragraph, the Board describes a different test from *Continental Sports Corp. v. Dep't of Lab. and Indus.*, 128 Wn.2d 594, 602-04 (1996).

The Court concluded DLI "was in as good a position as it would have been had the notice of appeal been sent to the board 'by mail.'" ... On these facts, the Court ruled the appellant substantially complied with the service requirements.

Your Snoqualmie Valley, at *3 (quoting Continental Sports, 128 Wn.2d at 604). Being "in as good a position" is another way of saying there is no prejudice.

A reasonable person would not conclude that the Board in *Your Snoqualmie Valley* was actually establishing an inflexible four-part test for substantial

compliance when it also relies on *Continental Sports*Corp., which is a prejudiced-based test consistent with <u>all</u>

prior Board decisions on this subject.

b. Before and after *Your Snoqualmie Valley*, the Board required prejudice before dismissing a case for service after filing.

The Board had never dismissed a case without the showing of prejudice. The clearest example is *Port* Orchard v. Kitsap County, No. 26-3-0012, at 1, 2016 WL 6993679 (Cent. Puget Sd. Growth Mamt. Hr'gs. Bd. 2016). Importantly, it post-dates *Your Snoqualmie Valley*. The Board ruled that "the city substantially complied with the Board's rules for service and the County has not been prejudiced by any technical errors in service." Port Orchard, at * 2 (emphasis added). The petition was filed on one day and service on the County was mailed on the following day. App E:2. The day of filing with the Board was the day the 60-day statute of limitations expired. Unlike the present case where the City was served within

the statute of limitations, the Board found substantial compliance when the County was served *beyond* the statute of limitations for one reason only—the lack of prejudice. *Id.* The reason or excuse for the one-day delay in service is not even mentioned.

Prejudice has always been the critical factor on the Board's service on the day of filing rule. *See Humphrey v. Douglas County*, No. 07-1-00210, 2007 WL 4117921 (Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs. Bd. Sept. 21, 2007); *Taxpayers for Responsible Gov't*, No. 97-2-0061, 1997 WL 772753 (1997) and *Achen v. Clark County*, No. 95-2-0067, at 2, 1995 WL 903178 (Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs. Bd. Sept. 20, 1995)); *Cove Heights Condominium Ass'n v. Chelan County*, No. 08-1-0013, 2008 WL 4618390 (Wash. Growth. Mgmt. Hr'gs. Bd. Sept. 3, 2008).⁶ "[A]

⁶ Although WAC 242-03-230 read differently at the time, it still required service "on or before the dated filed with the board." *Id.* at *1.

motion to dismiss will be denied when the jurisdiction does not demonstrate any prejudice from the failure to properly serve." *Id.* at *2.

In all the Board's prior cases, the reason for denying motions to dismiss had nothing to do with the reason for untimely service, but the fact that there was no prejudice shown. Thus, the Board has now arbitrarily changed course. To a casual reader of Division II's Decision, let alone a land use practitioner, the incongruity is obvious and alarming.

The law had been clear: "Agencies may not treat similar situations in different ways." *Seattle Area Plumbers v. Wash. State Apprent. and Trng. Council*, 131 Wn. App. 862, 879 (2006). That is exactly how Petitioners have been treated by the Board in concluding that unexpected traffic, coupled with early and instantaneous filing, was not a justifiable excuse, while the petitioners who served after filing in *Port Orchard, Cove Heights*,

Humphrey, Achen and Taxpayers needed no excuse whatsoever—just a lack of prejudice to the defending party.

This Court should accept review to determine whether the policy of this state remains to not give deference to an agency's interpretation which has been "inconsistent and not conclusive." *Glen Park Assocs, LLC v. State, Dept. of Revenue*, 119 Wn.App. 481, 492 (2003).

4. Unlike agency regulations involving complex technical issues, deference is not appropriate for agency interpretation of regulations involving procedural processing of an adjudication.

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