FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/16/2022 3:45 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100934-8 Court of Appeals No. 54915-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENMORE MHP LLC; JIM PERKINS; and KENMORE VILLAGE MHP, LLC, Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF KENMORE; ENVIRONMENTAL LAND USE HEARINGS OFFICE; and the GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD FOR THE CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGION, Respondents.

## RESPONDENT CITY OF KENMORE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Id. (internal quotes and citations omitted).

A court will not set aside a discretionary agency decision

"absent a clear showing of abuse." ARCO Prods. v. Wash. Utils.

& Transp. Comm'n, 125 Wn.2d 805, 812, 888 P.2d 728 (1995).

In reviewing agency action, the court views the evidence and any reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed in the highest forum exercising fact-fining authority. *Arishi v. Washington State University*, 196 Wn. App. 878, 895, 385 P.3d 251 (2016). Petitioners bear the burden of showing invalid action, and relief is only available to them if they show they were substantially prejudiced by the action complained of. *Id.* (citing RCW 34.05.570(1)(a)). To determine whether a party was prejudiced by agency action, they must show a reasonable probability that had they been provided a full adjudication, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Arishi*, 196 Wn. App. at 908.

A court will only invalidate a rule if it finds (1) the rule violates constitutional provisions; (2) the rule exceeds the statutory authority of the agency; (3) the rule was adopted without compliance with statutory rule-making procedures; or (4) the rule is arbitrary and capricious. RCW 34.05.570(2)(c).

## B. <u>The Board has the statutory authority to adopt</u>

## WAC 242-03-230.

The State Legislature explicitly authorized and directed

the Board to create rules to carry out its decision-making

functions in RCW 36.70A.260(7), which states in relevant part

[a]ll proceedings before the board ... shall be conducted in accordance with such administrative rules of practice and procedure as the board prescribes. The board shall develop and adopt rules of practice and procedure, including rules regarding expeditious and summary disposition of appeals...

As recognized by the Board

The GMA [Growth Management Act] contains no express language requiring service of a PFR [Petition for Review] on any respondent. The GMA does, however, require the Board to adopt "rules regarding expeditious and summary disposition of appeals." [RCW 36.70A.270(7)] The requirement for the Petitioner to promptly serve the PFR on the respondent city, county or state agency has therefore been a part of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure from their first promulgation. [WAC 242-03-230(2), formerly WAC 242-02-230(1)] Disposition of cases will not be "expeditious" if service requirements are disregarded.

CP 327 (Your Snoqualmie Valley, et. al., v. City of Snoqualmie,

Case No. 11-3-0012 (Order on Motions, March 8, 2012) at 3). Thus, the Board has had a published rule since its inception that a party must serve the petition on the respondent on or before the date the party files it, and the Board has affirmatively stated that it has determined that if parties are allowed to disregard the Board's service requirements, then it will not be able to dispose of cases expeditiously, which is a mandate from the Legislature.

It is important to remember that the Legislature has mandated that the Board issue its final order on a petition within 180 days of receipt of the petition. RCW 36.70A.300(2)(a). The Board has no authority to extend this deadline. Ensuring that respondents have the petition before or at the same time the Board receives the petition ensures that the Board can comply with its statutory requirement to enter final orders within 180 days, as the rule ensures that respondents are 1605123.1-359830-0107 - 17 - given notice at the beginning of the case. Not only does this ensure that the Board obtains jurisdiction over the respondent at the beginning of the case, but it also ensures that the respondent has the most time allowed for by law to present its defense in the matter, as the Board has no mechanism for extending the time allowed for it to provide a ruling. The Board acted well within its statutory authority when it created WAC 242-03-230 to ensure the expeditious and summary disposition of appeals, and to ensure it is able to issue its final order on an appeal within 180 days of filing. RCW 36.70A.270(5), (7).

# C. <u>The Board has the authority to adopt its</u> <u>substantial compliance test.</u>

"An agency acting within the ambit of its administrative functions normally is best qualified to interpret its own rules, and its interpretation is entitled to considerable deference by the courts." *D.W. Close Co., Inc. v. Washington State Dept. of Labor and Industries*, 143 Wn. App. 118, 129, 177 P.3d 143 (2008) (internal quotes and citations omitted). When it enacted WAC 242-03-230, the Board decided to allow for a party to substantially comply with its service requirements. WAC 242-03-230(4). To determine whether a party has substantially complied with service pursuant to WAC 242-03-230, the Board looks to see if the petitioner satisfies four requirements:

(a) the party that had to be served personally had actual notice, (b) the [respondent] would suffer no prejudice from the defect in service, (c) there is a justifiable excuse for the failure to serve properly, and (d) the [petitioner] would be severely prejudiced if his [petition] were dismissed.

CP 329 (*Your Snoqualmie Valley*, Case No. 11-3-0012 (Order on Motions, March 8, 2012) at 5). In the instant matter, the Board found Petitioners failed to satisfy (a) and (c), and as such, dismissed the Petition.<sup>1</sup> CP 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There is nothing unique or wrong with the Board requiring a party have a justifiable excuse for failing to properly serve. For example, excusable neglect will often be a key factor when a court determines whether to set aside a default order, and the trial court has considerable discretion when determining to set aside a default order. *Sellers v. Longview Orthopedic Associates, PLLC*, 11 Wn. App.2d 515, 1605123.1-359830-0107 - 19 -

The Board has the authority to determine whether its rules are complied with, is granted deference in making determinations on its rules and the laws it administers, and absent a due process violation, the Court should not substitute a different test than the one adopted by the Board. W.D. Close Co., Inc. 143 Wn. App. at 129; See also Stevens County v. Futurewise, 146 Wn. App. 493, 502, 192 P.3d 1 (2008) (Board is given deference on statutes it administers). Petitioners did not argue below that the substantial compliance test adopted by the Board violated their due process rights because it does not. In fact, Petitioners have never even attempted to perform a *Mathews* analysis, which is a prerequisite to even argue that its due process rights have been violated. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976); see Arishi v.

<sup>525, 455</sup> P.3d 166 (2019). See also In re Estate of Stevens, 94 Wn. App. 20, 30, 971 P.2d 58 (1999) (to set aside a default, a party must show excusable neglect and due diligence. To set aside a default judgment, a party must show (1) excusable neglect, (2) due diligence, (3) a meritorious defense, and (4) no substantial hardship on opposing party.)  $^{1605123.1-359830-0107}$  - 20 -

*Washington State University*, 196 Wn. App. 878, 899, 385 P.3d 251 (2016) (performing a *Mathews* due process analysis).

The method chosen by the Board does not need to be the most just and reasonable, but rather only a reasonable way of determining whether Petitioners substantially complied with WAC 242-03-230. See ARCO Prods., 125 Wn.2d at 814. Unless a decision is arbitrary and capricious, a Court must uphold an agency decision, even if the Court disagrees with the decision. Stewart v. State, Dept. of Social & Health Services, 162 Wn. App. 266, 273, 252 P.3d 920 (2011). The Board's substantial compliance test is the same test that has been used in the federal courts since at least 1984. CP 329 (Your Snoqualmie Valley, Case No. 11-3-0012 (Order on Motions, March 8, 2012) at 5 (citing S.J. v. Issaquah School District No. 411, WL 764916, at \*2, U.S. District Court, W.D. of Washington at Seattle (March 8, 2007), citing Borzeka v. Heckler, 739 P.2d 444, 447 (9th Cir. 1984))). The substantial compliance test adopted by the Board does not violate Petitioners' due process rights, and as such, is valid.

# D. <u>The Board's decision to dismiss the Petition is</u> <u>not arbitrary and capricious.</u>

The Petition for Review should also be denied because Petitioners failed to argue below that the outcome would have been different had the appeal been heard. *Arishi*, 196 Wn. App. at 908 (petitioner must show a reasonable probability that had there been a full hearing the outcome would be different.); RAP 2.5; *State v. Sinrud*, 200 Wn. App. 643, 653, 403 P.3d 96 (2017) ("But, under RAP 2.5(a), an argument not made below is waived on appeal.)

Furthermore, the facts presented to the Board are more than enough to uphold the Board's decision to dismiss the Petition. "A[n] [agency] decision is arbitrary and capricious if it is willful and unreasoning and disregards or does not consider the facts and circumstances underlying the decision." *Stewart*,

162 Wn. App. at 273. "A decision is not arbitrary or capricious if there is room for more than one opinion and the decision is based on honest and due consideration, even if this court disagrees with it." Id. Action taken after giving respondent ample opportunity to be heard, exercised honestly and upon due consideration, even though it may be believed an erroneous decision has been reached, is not arbitrary and capricious. Brown, 94 Wn. App. at 16.

Petitioners admit they did not serve the Petition as required by WAC 242-03-230, and Petitioners provided the Board with no evidence to establish two of the four elements of the Board's substantial compliance test. CP 18, 22, 25. First, Petitioners did not even attempt to argue that the City had actual knowledge of the Petition prior to filing, and the City provided evidence that it did not. CP 97-98. Second, the Board found that Petitioners statement that the Petition was not given to the process server in enough time to serve it the same day the

Petition was filed did not constitute a justifiable excuse. CP 22, 25, 185.

Petitioners admit that they knew there was a risk that the process server would not be able to timely serve the Petition (as the process server told them this), and admit they took no action to ensure they complied with WAC 242-03-230. CP 185. Petitioners admit that there is no evidence to support the proposition that additional efforts could not have been taken by Petitioners to inform the City of its filing of the Petition and to actually serve the Petition as required by WAC 242-03-230. Id. To the contrary, the evidence shows that Kenmore's City Hall was only 14.7 miles away, and that the distance could be covered in under 30 minutes. See State ex rel. Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Co. v. Superior Court of Chelan County, 57 Wn.2d 662, 666, 359 P.2d 146 (1961) (Supreme Court took judicial notice of distance between two points). Whether to dismiss a case due to failure to substantially comply with service requirements is a case specific analysis, with each instance having different facts that are weighed by the Board to determine whether to dismiss. CP 24. In the instant matter, the Board reviewed all the evidence, and determined that Petitioners did not substantially comply, and thus dismissed the Petition. CP 16-25.<sup>1</sup>

In *Your Snoqualmie Valley*, the Board made clear that if the petitioner fails to comply with WAC 242-03-230, then it must provide a justifiable excuse for why it failed to do so. CP 325-342. Petitioners' lack of diligence, and thus lack of justifiable excuse, in the instant matter is in marked contrast to the facts in *Your Snoqualmie*, where the Board found substantial compliance. In *Your Snoqualmie*, Petitioner attempted to personally serve the City on multiple occasions, but was unable to timely do so because (1) of an unannounced early pre-Christmas closure of City Hall, and then (2) the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As found by the Court of Appeals, Petitioners have presented no case with indistinguishable facts to this case where the Board has held differently. 1605123.1 - 359830 - 0107 - 25 -

absence of the Mayor and City Clerk on December 27, which was the next business day. It was only after those two failed efforts that petitioner in that case served via FedEx. CP 330. Under those facts, the Board determined petitioner was reasonable and diligent in efforts to serve the City. *Id*. An important fact that the Board stressed in *Your Snoqualmie* when making its ruling was that it found that the petitioner's failure to timely serve was due to circumstances outside the petitioner's control (the obstacles to service were "the City's making, not a result of Petitioners' misjudgment.") *Id*.

In the instant matter, there were no unannounced closures of City Hall, and the City Clerk was available for service at the City the entire week prior to the filing deadline, on the day Petitioners filed, and on the day of the filing deadline, and despite actual knowledge that the Petition may not be timely served, Petitioners chose to make no effort to comply WAC 242-03-230. Under these facts, the Board determined that Petitioners failed to provide a justifiable excuse for their failure to comply with WAC 242-03-230, and dismissed the action. This was not arbitrary and capricious, but rather a reasoned decision after Petitioners were given every chance to explain to the Board why they substantially complied. This Court should uphold the Board's dismissal.

# E. <u>The Board has never required a showing of</u> <u>prejudice as a prerequisite for dismissal of an</u> untimely served petition.

Petitioners' assertion that prior to *Your Snoqualmie*, the Board always required a showing of prejudice to dismiss a case is inaccurate. While the cases cited by Petitioners do discuss prejudice, as noted by the Court of Appeals, those orders on dismissal do not have sufficient facts to determine whether there was a justifiable excuse for failing to actually serve. Furthermore, there are many Board cases where petitions that were not properly served and were dismissed without a finding of prejudice. Salisbury v. Bonney Lake, CPSGMHB No. 95-3-0058 (Order Granting Bonney Lake's Motion to Dismiss, October 27, 1995) (Board dismissed because petitioner did not serve City according to the rules of WAC 242-02-230(1) (requiring that service be made upon the mayor, city manager, or city clerk, rather than just the "City of Bonney Lake")); *City* of Tacoma v. Pierce County, CPSGMHB No. 6-3-0011c (Order on Motion to Dismiss and Order on Intervention, May 1, 2006) (Board denied intervention because the third party improperly served Pierce County in violation of WAC service rules); Keesling v. King County, CPSGMHB No. 95-3-0078 (Order Granting Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Timely Service, March 8, 1996) (Board dismissed because petitioner published a notice in the Seattle Times to the County at large rather than addressing it to the designated official indicated in the WAC); Whidbey Environmental Action Network v. Island County, WWGMHB No. 06-2-0027 (Order on Motion to Dismiss

1605123.1 - 359830 -0107

Petition for Review, November 16, 2006) (Petitioner objected to Island County growth plan, but filed service of the petition by email sixty days after the change was published (the statutory maximum allowed under RCWs) and then served paper copies after; WAC does not allow for electronic service via email, so petition was properly dismissed); *Abercrombie v. Chelan County*, EWGMHB No. 00-1-0008 (Order on Dispositive Motions, June 16, 2000) (petition dismissed because it was not properly served on the County Auditor as required by the WAC.)

The Board looks at the unique facts of every case to determine whether there was substantial compliance with the service requirements. In the instant matter, after giving Petitioners a full opportunity to be heard on the issue, held in a 10-page order that Petitioners failed to substantially comply. There is no due process violation, the rule is valid, and it was applied in the instant matter fairly and correctly.

## VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should deny

the Petition for Review.